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Dedicated to the innocent victims of flights, who have embarked upon journeys to see the beauty our planet has to offer, but who have had their lives tragically cut short by acts of barbarism perpetrated by individuals with warped ideologies. To the heroic crew members, brave passengers and anonymous members of the security forces who have brought hijacks to safe conclusions with zero or minimal loss of life. To the men and women who, day in and day out, perform their duties professionally, often with little thanks, in an attempt to safeguard not only the flights we board but the societal values we strive to uphold. And, last but by no means least, to those I love and cherish who have enabled me to make this flight through life safely and securely.













PREFACE











People often ask me how I became involved in aviation security. Perhaps it was growing up in East Sheen, on the flight path to London Heathrow. I recall gazing out of my bedroom window for hours on end at the aircraft making their final approach, and I became quite the expert at recognising airline insignia. Geography was my favourite subject at school and, while many kids of a similar age were proud to display their knowledge of cars, football players and the kings and queens of England, I wanted to be tested on my knowledge of every capital city, national flag and airline carrier.




  Then again, perhaps it was because I was fortunate enough to travel frequently as a child and was always excited by the airport experience. It wasn't the aircraft themselves which appealed to me, rather the behaviour of the passengers, and those who met them or bade them farewell. The expressions of love, sadness, joy, excitement, boredom, frustration. The communication between loved ones and business colleagues, flight attendants and pilots, airport staff and the travelling public. It was fun guessing where people were travelling to – who was the tourist and who was on business, who was happy to be leaving on an adventure and who was distraught about imminent separation from a loved one they might never see again. It's a game I've converted into a profession!




  However, it is more likely that I was influenced by world events. After dinner, my family always watched the BBC's Nine O'clock News and, when I was child, aircraft hijackings took place with alarming regularity. With no sibling until I was almost 12, I had to take part in grown-up discussions about both the ills and the wonders of the world. The actions of the Palestinian terrorist groups intrigued me more than those perpetrated by, say, the Irish Republican Army, because aviation was the target. But, while I never set out to become an aviation security professional – and could never have foreseen myself sitting down for coffee with Leila Khaled in Amman on the thirtieth anniversary of the events of 6 September 1970 – somehow I knew that aviation would be part of my life.




  Over the years I have followed many of the stories, generally focusing on them from a human perspective. I am fascinated by the paths taken by the perpetrators of violent acts, what led them to points of such desperation, be it hijacking, bombing or even simple unruly passenger behaviour. The stories of passengers and crew, how they responded, coped with captivity, summoned the will to survive or resigned themselves to their fate. I have brought together many of the stories that have shaped the aviation industry, together with some which have had a major impact on the world as we know it. This is by no means an exhaustive account of aviation hijackings and bombings – and some readers may feel that their favourite case study has been left out – but the ones selected are those where there is a tale to be told, a lesson to be learned or a hero to remember.




  Many books have been written about individual incidents, but this history is different. The focus is less on the weapons or explosives used, the aircraft type, the tactics employed by special forces or the background political manoeuvrings, and more on the impact of the attacks on those whose lives became forever associated with violence in the skies.




  This book would never have come about were it not for the support and encouragement of colleagues, friends and family. I am indebted to those who helped me get the ball rolling – notably Alexandra James and Louise Cooke; to those family members who helped proof – my sister, Devorah, and father-in-law, Tony – and my professional proofreader Emma Grundy-Haigh; to industry colleagues, Norman Shanks, Tony Blackiston and Amir Neeman, whose constructive criticism and feedback was invaluable; and those who commissioned it in the first place – my agent, Adrian Sington, from Kruger Cowne, and Claire Plimmer and Chris Turton at Summersdale Publishers. The publishers of Aviation Security International have been ever supportive of my efforts to highlight the key issues impacting upon aviation security worldwide and I am grateful for their continued faith in retaining me as the editor of the industry's mouthpiece. I express my gratitude to the staff and consultants of Green Light Ltd., who may have felt that I have been somewhat distracted from my regular duties while putting pen to paper. Glenda and Harold provided me with the hideaway and headspace to write by granting me the use of their caravan in Selsey. This book probably would never have been started were it not for the encouragement I was given by friends – in particular, Carol Bronze, who always told me that I had a book in me! My parents' faith in me has had immeasurable impact – the frequency of being told to adopt the 'I can and I will' attitude as a child; the inspiration they provide by the never-ceasing zest they continue to show for life; the unquestioning love they display for all those dear to them, values based on charity and good deeds they espouse; one can only aspire to emulate them. And last, but by no means least, my wife and daughters whose love, support and loyalty has known no bounds. They have allowed me to embark on this literary journey, while also having to cope with an often absentee spouse and father as I have travelled the globe. Kate epitomises professionalism and her desire to enable people to achieve their maximum potential is a quality that I hope I have absorbed and portray to those I encounter within the industry. While this book is dedicated to those whose lives have been shaped by hatred, it is inspired by those who love.







CHAPTER I





1911–1945












THIEVING TYPES




The aviation industry was still only in its first decade when it had to start to consider ways of ensuring the not only safe but secure transportation of passengers at high altitude above the earth, let alone the protection of its assets on the ground. Following the Wright Brothers achieving 'flight' in 1903, and the subsequent commencement of aircraft manufacturing in the early years of the last century, there have been those who have seen it as a concept that could be exploited for nefarious purposes. As a result, the industry has had to respond to the challenges posed by terrorists, criminals, psychologically disturbed individuals and asylum seekers who have sought to use aircraft as a means to prove a political point, secure the release of imprisoned colleagues, extract financial gain, reach pastures deemed greener, or even as a means to commit suicide.




  However, the first criminals to target aviation did so from the safety of solid ground. According to the Oregon News of 9 August 1911, an aeroplane had been reported as stolen: 




 



[image: ] St. Louis Police today are searching for an entirely new brand of criminal in the man or men who stole a monoplane from E. E. Lessard, a local amateur aviator. So far as known the theft is the first of its kind. [image: ]




 


It certainly wasn't the last.




  The aircraft thieves of the early twentieth century were likely to be flying enthusiasts rather than hardened criminals. In 1917, the New York Times reported:




 



[image: ] NOVICE AIRMEN DIE IN 1,500-FOOT PLUNGE: Two army pupils take plane at Mineola without authority and attempt flight. They soon lose control. Crowd sees runaway biplane zigzag dizzily in the sky, then drop to earth. [image: ]




 


And so it was that Ransom H. Merritt and Anthony D. Spileno met their premature end.




  A decade later, the United Press reported that, on 26 August, Donald Charles had stolen an aircraft because he was late for a party! Charles had been a pilot in World War One, yet he had seemingly forgotten how to fly. No sooner had he taken off than he crashed the aircraft, writing it off, although walking away from the accident himself.




  A year later, two German youths stole an aircraft in Winnipeg, Canada. Around the world, aircraft thefts began being reported with alarming regularity.




  In Australia, on 23 September 1930, the Sydney Morning Herald reported that two men had been charged with the theft of an aircraft. 'Walter William Crothers, 21, a fitter, was charged at the Parramatta Court yesterday with having stolen a Moth aeroplane, valued at £850, the property of the Aero Club of New South Wales.' It was alleged that Crothers had obtained the plane from the caretaker of the Hargrave Park Aerodrome, and had intended flying it to Katoomba to perform a flying show. Jack Hart, a 21-year-old motor mechanic, was also arrested and charged in relation to the offence.




  However, all of these crimes had been opportunistic in nature. Nobody was seizing aircraft in-flight and pilots were not being forced to fly against their will.















MEMORY RECALL



 


Unofficially – inasmuch as no report of the incident was filed by the captain at the time – the first airborne aeroplane hijacking took place in Mexico in December 1929. It was not until 1970 that pilot J. Howard 'Doc' DeCelles claimed that, back in 1929, he had been flying a postal route for the Mexican company Transportes Aeras Transcontinentales, ferrying mail from San Luis Potosi to Torreon and then on to Guadalajara, when a lieutenant under the command of Mexican revolutionary Pancho Villa ordered him to divert. DeCelles was allegedly held captive for several hours under armed guard. This was, however, not a passenger aircraft.

















THE WOULD-BE ALBANIAN KING




The first 'real' hijacking to have taken place (in flight, rather than prior to take off) of a passenger-carrying aircraft may have been as early as 1919 and perpetrated by a particularly colourful character by the name of Baron Franz von Nopcsa Felső-Szilvás.




  Nopsca was a Hungarian aristocrat, who became a worldrenowned palaeontologist, today credited for having initiated research into the Transylvanian dinosaur following his sister's discovery of some petrified bones on the family estate in Szacsal in 1895. His research also delved into the origin of birds and the evolutionary process that has enabled them to fly; he is now regarded as one of the first scientists to have established an evolutionary link between birds and bipedal dinosaurs. Nopsca was an early proponent of the theory of 'island dwarfism', whereby animals that evolve on islands grow to a smaller size due to the limited resources available; his theory, once mocked by many, is nowadays accepted by the global scientific community.




  But Nopsca was a multifaceted individual – an adventurer who developed a love of Albania, and who saw himself as the saviour of this exotic region in the Balkans. His first trip there in search of fossils came about following the commencement of a relationship with his secretary, a younger Albanian man named Bajazid Elmaz Doda. Such was his passion for the region, despite being a palaeontologist first and foremost, Nopsca is also accredited as having written 50 scientific papers on the language, history, ethnology, traditional music and laws of Albania. Committed to the country, he wished to free it from Ottoman rule and used his considerable wealth to purchase weapons to wage the first Balkan war.




  Albania became independent in 1913 under the Treaty of London, and determined that it would be a monarchy. With no natural successor to the throne, the new state tried to identify suitable candidates to be king… and Nopsca thought he would be just the man for the job. However, his unabashedly camp lifestyle did not play well in early-twentieth-century Albania and he quickly found himself out of favour. So he returned to Transylvania, which was still under Hungarian rule. While continuing his research as a palaeontologist, Nopsca also spent the latter part of World War One operating as a spy for Romania… not that it was going to do him any good.




  The end of World War One saw Transylvania become part of Romania, and Nopsca lost his family estate there, and the associated wealth that went with it. His fall from grace resulted in his seeking a new life in Vienna and so it was that a wealthy homosexual Hungarian palaeontologist who wanted to be King of Albania arrived, gun in hand, at Budapest Airport with false documents and ordered the pilot to fly him and Doda to Vienna. In addition to establishing the evolutionary process that enabled birds to fly, he may have inadvertently been the first of a new kind of creature of the skies – the hijacker.




  Nopsca and Doda were to end their days in Vienna in 1933 when Nopsca, poor and sick, shot his lover in his sleep before turning the gun on himself.















MILITANT MAURITANIAN MOORS


 


The first airline to find itself the target of criminal activity was Lignes Aeriennes Latécoère (later to become Aéropostale). Between 1923 and 1926, the carrier operated mail routes across the Spanish Sahara and, on the ground below, nomadic Moors took advantage of the frequency with which these early flights were forced to land due to engine trouble or sandstorms. Pilots were frequently kidnapped and ransoms were demanded for their release. Realising that this was a profitable business, the Moors then started shooting at aircraft in flight in order to force them to land. In at least five instances, the pilots were actually killed by their captors.
















LATIN AMERICAN GUERRILLAS, MONGOLIAN TRIBESMEN AND DASTARDLY DENTISTS


Given the absence of verifiable data regarding Baron Nopsca's hijacking in 1919, and the failure of 'Doc' DeCelles to report the attack on his aircraft in 1929, the aviation industry tends to treat the events of the 21 February 1931 as being the first hijacking for which detailed reports exist. In fact, it was more of a commandeering than a hijacking as all the action took place on the ground in Arequipa, Peru.


  Around six months beforehand, Lt. Col. Sanchez Cerro flew to Lima from his home in Arequipa in an aircraft piloted by an American businessman by the name of Elmer Faucett (who was, subsequently, to become the founder of Peru's first airline), and seized power. By February 1931, Cerro's Arequipa-based compatriots had become disillusioned with his failure to effect the reforms he had promised, and so it was that some of them decided to take up arms and seek his removal. But Arequipa was some way from Lima and, just as Cerro himself had arrived in Lima by air, an aircraft was needed.




  Captain Byron Dague Rickards was the unlucky pilot. He worked for Pan American Airways and flew Ford Tri-motors on mail routes around the Andes. On 21 February, he landed in Arequipa, on a landing strip with which he was very familiar. As he taxied towards the terminal, a group of Peruvian guerrillas bearing rifles surrounded the aircraft and advised Rickards that they were seizing the aircraft and would be utilising it to drop propaganda leaflets over cities in Peru.




  Strangely enough, Rickards was not only the first captain to be 'hijacked'; he was also the first to be hijacked twice, when a Continental Airlines flight he was piloting on a domestic flight in the USA in 1961 was also seized. Rickards, however, can consider himself relatively fortunate since Captain Leul Abate of Ethiopian Airlines has been skyjacked on at least three different occasions!




  The targeting of an aircraft operating a mail route was also not a one-off. On 2 July 1931, an aircraft belonging to the Eurasia Aviation Corporation was shot down near Manchuli, by Mongolian tribesmen armed with rifles. The Junkers aircraft was performing the inaugural trans-Siberian airmail route at the time; at the controls were two German pilots, Captain Johann Rathje and his flight engineer, Otto Koelber, both of whom were on loan to Eurasia Aviation by its parentcompany, Lufthansa.




  Rathje and Koelber were arrested and held in Outer Mongolia until September 1931, when the Nanking government in China is believed to have negotiated their release. Rathje was initially sentenced to five years imprisonment for espionage, whilst Koelber, who had been seriously injured in the initial attack, spent the three months in captivity in a hospital in Urga, where he also had his leg amputated.















SEAPLANE, SEE DANGER



 


The first real lesson on the risk to aviation as posed by criminal activity on the flight deck also occurred on the South American continent. On 25 September 1932, a Panair do Brasil Sikorsky S-38 seaplane was stolen from its hangar by three rebels who, having taken a hostage as protection, took off and then promptly crashed into São João de Meriti, a suburb of Rio de Janeiro. The three rebels and their hostage all died.
















There is considerable debate as to when the first aircraft was blown up intentionally, but many believe that the Imperial Airways aircraft, which crashed near Dixmude in Belgium while en route from Brussels to London on 28 March 1933, may have been destroyed by one of the passengers on board. The aircraft seemingly targeted was an Armstrong Whitworth A. W. 154 Argosy II, called the City of Liverpool.




  Observers on the ground saw the aircraft on fire before it crashed, killing all 15 people on board. The fire had been seen in the tail of the aircraft and, according to the Bureau of Aircraft Accidents Archives, the subsequent investigation showed that:




 



[image: ] No technical failure occurred on wings or engines. A quick and violent fire broke out in the cabin, maybe in a luggage [compartment] or in the toilet compartment for  unknown reasons. This fire was very intensive as no one in the cabin was able to use the fire extinguisher. [image: ]




 


One of the possible scenarios is that one Dr Albert Voss, a 69-year-old dentist, had started the fire intentionally. Voss' body was actually found some distance from the wreckage and the forensic investigation revealed that he had suffered burn marks to his hands and face. Witnesses on the ground claimed that they had seen a man jump from the aircraft just before the crash.




  Voss' brother told investigators in London that the dentist had been considering suicide and that he may have been involved in drug smuggling. Due to his profession, Voss had easy access to anaesthetics, which at that time were highly flammable. Furthermore, it was later revealed that the flight was being monitored by the Metropolitan Police, who were already investigating Voss' alleged involvement in smuggling. His brother claimed that Voss felt it was only a matter of time before he was arrested, so perhaps he decided it was time to disappear.




 



THE LIQUID EXPLOSIVE PLOT OF 1933




While the loss of the Imperial Airways flight in 1933 is only suspected of being the result of sabotage, the first confirmed bombing of a commercial airliner took place on 10 October 1933, when a United Airlines aircraft, en route from Cleveland to Chicago, exploded at an altitude of 1,000 ft over Chesterton, Indiana.




  It was confirmed by Melvin Purvis, then head of the Chicago office of the United States Federal Bureau of Investigation, that their investigation demonstrated that the crash was the result of 'an explosion somehwere in the region of the baggage compartment of the rear of the plane'. Purvis reported that, 'Everything in the front of the compartment was blown forward and everything behind blown backward, and things in the side outward.' A simple fire in the fuel tanks was ruled out because 'the gasoline tanks, instead of being blowed [sic] out, were crushed in, showing there was no explosion in them'.




  It was later determined that a nitroglycerine-based improvised explosive device (IED) had been concealed in the blanket compartment of the toilets. Despite the evidence, no cause or culprit were ever established. Suspects were aplenty, but the investigation was impeded by the fact that the wreckage was sold and removed from the crash site within 24 hours of the accident taking place. As the investigation dragged on from weeks to months, the lead investigators were given other issues to deal with. Purvis was also the lead agent tracking John Dillinger, the infamous gang leader who had embarked upon a series of bank robberies in May 1933; and Special Agent W. Carter Baum, who had been interviewing passengers' family members, was also assigned to the hunt for Dillinger.




  On 22 April 1934, Baum was killed by 'Baby Face' Nelson, when acting on intelligence that Dillinger and members of his gang were hiding at Little Bohemia Lodge in Wisconsin. And on 22 July 1934, Purvis, having managed to track Dillinger down to the Biograph Theatre in Chicago, awaited his exit from a viewing of 'Manhattan Melodrama' to close in on his prey. Dillinger tried to escape but was shot dead. With Baum dead and Purvis having made a significant breakthrough against organised crime, FBI Director J. Edgar Hoover wanted 'Baby Face' Nelson and 'Pretty Boy' Floyd captured dead or alive, and Purvis had proven himself up to the task. As a result, the investigation into the air crash was suspended.




 



MURDER IN THE SKIES




The 1930s were to experience not only the first commandeering of an aircraft and the first bombing of an aircraft, but also the first act of murder in the skies. Fortunately, however, the incident took place on a light aircraft rather than on a passenger plane.




  The perpetrator was Earnest Pletch, the victim Carl Bivens, who was Pletch's flying instructor, and the reason… well, nobody seems to know! Pletch was said to be a difficult man and was already on his third marriage when, on 28 October 1939, he had his final lesson with Bivens and, somewhere over Missouri, he took out a revolver and fired two shots into Bivens' head. Pletch had acquired sufficient flying skills to be able to land the training aircraft single-handedly.




  This feat would not have been a surprise to those who knew Pletch, as he had been quick to brag to anybody that would listen that he had been teaching himself to fly, if only by reading books and observing the actions of trained pilots at air shows rather than by actually taking lessons. In June 1938, Pletch had stolen an aircraft from a Royal American Show and managed to take off and land the aircraft successfully, all before his first flying lesson.




  Even after his arrest for the murder of Bivens, Pletch repeatedly changed his rationale for the killing, but he did plead guilty and was saved from the death penalty by Bivens' widow, who supported a life sentence with no parole.




  Pletch died a free man in June 2001. Mike Dash, a Welsh historian, best known for books and articles dealing with dramatic yet little-known episodes in history, investigated the incident after Pletch had gained his freedom. He found that 'his life sentence had been commuted to one of 25 years on 9 January 1953, then further commuted on 1 March 1957, the day of his release'. Furthermore, Dash established that:




 



[image: ] A man by the name of Earnest Pletch had found employment as a pilot with a firm called Cox Aviation and married a woman named Mary Leap on the day after Christmas 1973. There must have been other wives as well; when Pletch died, he left 16 grandchildren and 22 great-grandchildren. [image: ]






CHAPTER II





1946–1959












PEACE IN EUROPE, TERROR IN THE SKIES




Nobody was hijacking planes during World War Two. However, the end of the war in 1945 precipitated three events, or phenomena, which would become the primary political causes for attacks against aviation in the years to follow: 




 


• Eastern Europe embraced Communism due to the success of the Red Army's actions during the war, while socialist ideals were widely taken up across the rest of Europe as the continent set about its recovery.


 


• The birth of the State of Israel out of the ashes of the Holocaust and the associated failure of both Israel's neighbours and the Palestinian leadership to accept the United Nations' Partition Plan which would have, back in 1948, seen a state of Palestine come into being.


 


• Twenty years later, the development of rebellious, youth-led, left-wing social activist movements piggybacking on to any cause which challenged the status quo or acted in support of those deemed oppressed.


 


The Berlin Wall had yet to be constructed when the first Eastern Europeans decided that communism was not a lifestyle choice they wished to pursue and that steps, or flights, had to be taken to escape to the West.


  On 25 July 1947, three Romanian army officers hijacked their own Transporturile Aeriene Romano-Sovietice (TARS) flight, which was supposed to fly from Bucharest to Craiova. Ten minutes into the flight, the officers entered the cockpit and ordered Captain Vasile Ciobanu to divert to Turkey. Flight engineer Mitrofan Bescioti attempted to overpower the armed officers, but paid the price for his actions by being shot by Lieutenant Aurel Dobrea. Bescioti died from injuries. Ciobanu flew to Çanakkale, near Izmir in Turkey, where the officers were arrested on arrival and put on trial for the murder of Bescioti. Ciobanu returned to Romania, only to be sentenced to 16 years in prison as a traitor to the regime for allowing the hijack to succeed.




 



THE MISFORTUNE OF MISS MACAU




On 16 July 1948, a Macau Air Transport flight – a Catalina seaplane named Miss Macau – operating from Macau to Hong Kong was seized by four hijackers. It was well known at the time that Macau was a centre for gambling and casinos – they had been legalised there back in 1850 – while Hong Kong was a casino-free zone. Consequently, in an era that preceded credit cards, cheap flights and ease of air travel, there was an understandable belief that those passengers flying from Macau to Hong Kong were likely to be carrying large quantities of cash won on the gaming tables of Macau. Additionally, as Macau was the regional centre for the trade of gold, both maritime and airfreight operators were insured against acts of piracy. While passenger flights, such as Miss Macau, did not carry significant quantities of gold, their passengers were still well-to-do businessmen, bankers and merchants associated with the trade. All in all, flights between Macau and Hong Kong were likely to be carrying people able to pay significant ransoms for their freedom. At least, that was what a Chinese man by the name of Chio Tok believed. And Chio Tok was also a trained pilot.




  With the plan to hijack the aircraft, replace the captain at the controls and then land the seaplane in the Pearl River estuary, Chio Tok first recruited two gunmen, Chio Cheong and Chio Kei Mun, and then a local villager, Wong Yu, who was familiar with the Pearl River, and was persuaded to join the group in return for a small financial bribe. Chio Tok went on a number of flights to familiarise himself with the aircraft, the company's operating procedures and to run through the plan in his mind. As the date approached, he dropped Chio Kei Mun from the plan, having found out that he was addicted to opium, and replaced him with Siu Chek-kam.




  Around eight minutes after take off, the co-pilot, Ken McDuff, left his seat to retract the wing floats. The three gunmen sprang into action and attempted to seize control of the aircraft. McDuff immediately tried to overpower the men, while Captain Dale Cramer resisted and banked sharply to the left in order to return to Macau. The three hijackers opened fire, shooting Captain Cramer in the head; his body slumped forward over the controls and the aircraft crashed into the sea. There was one survivor – a survivor who could not only later tell the police what had happened on board Miss Macau but could also explain the reason for the hijack. He was Wong Yu.




  Bizarrely, once he was rescued, Wong Yu could not be prosecuted because the hijack had taken place outside what was then Portuguese airspace and on board a British aircraft. Furthermore, even though he confessed to his involvement in the plan, there was insufficient evidence to prove his guilt. He was eventually released from prison in Macau after three years without a trial and was then deported to China, where he 'met with an accident' resulting in his death.




  We will never know whether Chio Tok knew how much money was being carried on board the aircraft that day. The investigation revealed that four millionaires died in the accident, and that the wife of one of them had told the police her husband had been carrying HK$500,000 with him.




  This incident, along with the TARS hijacking in Romania, and a number of others in the 1950s, resulted in the industry advising aircrew to comply with the demands of hijackers rather than risk in-flight shoot-outs or detonations. Even at the height of the Palestinian hijackings in the 1960s and 1970s, compliance was still recommended, given that groups perpetrating such attacks were more focussed on media coverage than killing passengers and crew en masse. However, industry standards have, understandably, changed significantly in the aftermath of the 9/11 hijackings in the United States in 2001.















CONTRACT MURDER



 


Although the move from hijacking towards sabotage only commenced in the mid-1980s, when terrorism was the cause, criminals had resorted to the destruction of commercial aircraft in-flight for financial benefit much earlier.


  It was on 7 May 1949 that a Philippine Airlines flight, en route from Daet to Manila, crashed into the Sibuyan Sea, killing all 13 souls on board. The cause was an IED secreted on board by two contract killers hired to murder a man in order that his wife be free to marry somebody else. Obtusely, love, rather than hate, was a common theme for early acts of sabotage.

















TIMED TO DIE FAMOUS




On 9 September 1949, Albert Guay put into effect a plan to kill his wife while she was a passenger on board a Canadian Pacific Airlines DC-3 operating from Montreal to Baie-Comeau via Quebec City, taking the lives of all 23 people on board with her. Rita Morrell, Guay's wife, boarded the flight in Quebec City with a timer-based IED infiltrated into her baggage. It is possible that, had the aircraft departed on time, it would have been flying over the St Lawrence River, which would have prevented any subsequent investigation as to the cause. It was no surprise that Guay chose to use a timing mechanism, as he was a jeweller and watchmaker.




  Albert Guay and Rita Morrell's marriage was reported to be tempestuous, and both had had affairs. Guay's business was also floundering and his debts were on the increase, yet he found some solace in the arms of a 19-year-old waitress, Marie-Ange Robitaille. While she knew he was married, her parents did not; so, once Guay had proposed marriage and given her an engagement ring, he was introduced to them as Roger Angers. When Rita Morrell found out about the extent of the relationship, she confronted Marie-Ange's parents, showing them her own wedding photographs. Marie-Ange was thrown out of the family home.




  Divorce was not an option in Quebec in the 1940s. With Marie-Ange threatening to leave him if he could not commit to their future together, more drastic action seemed necessary. Accordingly, Guay persuaded his wife to fly to Baie-Comeau on a business trip to collect some jewels; he purchased her ticket and took out a CAD$10,000 insurance policy on her life. 




  Marguerite Ruest-Pitre, later given the title 'Madame Raven' as she always wore black, had been organising the secret meetings of Guay and Marie-Ange and she started renting the girl a room once the teenager's father had thrown her out. Marguerite was indebted to Guay, as she had borrowed money from him and had repeatedly failed to make timely repayments. It was Marguerite's brother, who was employed by Guay as a repairman, to whom Guay turned for assistance in constructing the bomb.




  Genereux Ruest's device comprised of a timing mechanism and ten pounds of dynamite, purchased by Marguerite. Once constructed, Marguerite took the package to the airport and had it shipped, on the same flight as Rita, as airmail.




  Marguerite was the first suspect as witnesses had noticed her suspicious behaviour at the airport, but nobody knew her name. It was only once Guay was the subject of the police's investigation that they found Marguerite, and that was because Marie-Ange Robitaille, who no longer had any interest in Guay, led them to her. On the day that the police questioned Marguerite, she initially claimed that she thought she had been shipping a figurine. However, after she later took an overdose, which resulted in her hospitalisation, she confessed her involvement.




  Guay was arrested after claiming on the life insurance policy taken out on his wife, and was sentenced to death. In an apparent effort to postpone his own execution, he further implicated Marguerite and Genereux, who was by then sick and confined to a wheelchair. They were both arrested and also sentenced to hang.




  As Guay walked to the gallows, his final words were 'At least I die famous'. Sadly, this view is shared by many of today's terrorists. The siblings were also hanged, with Genereux having to be carried to the gallows and Marguerite having the dubious honour of being the last woman to be hanged in Canada.




 



THE FIRST TRIPLE HIJACK




The concept of using international flights as vehicles to escape to seemingly greener pastures has been repeated many times since the TARS hijacking in 1947. There are abundant examples of flights being hijacked from the former Soviet Union to the West, from China to Taiwan, from Iran to Israel, from poorer states in Africa and Asia to wealthier states in Europe, from Cuba to the United States and, of course, from the United States to Cuba. Coordinated attacks against aviation targeting multiple flights is, however, a tactic better associated with the likes of the Abu Nidal Organisation in the 1980s and, more recently, the al-Qaeda brand of terrorism. But there was one notable exception way back in 1950.




  On 24 March 1950, three Czechoslovak State Airlines (CSA) Douglas DC-3 aircraft operating three different routes were hijacked simultaneously by their pilots. By the end of the day, all three aircraft were to be found on the ground at the US air force base in Erding, West Germany. The destination had been chosen as, to avoid arousing the suspicion of the passengers they were transporting, it had a similar flying time to the original destinations of the flights the airmen planned to hijack.




  Pilots that flew for CSA who had flown for the Royal Air Force (RAF) during the war were restricted to domestic flights and their family members were never allowed to board flights they were piloting. The group of hijackers were forced, therefore, to concoct a complex plan to get themselves, their families and some trusted friends out of Czechoslovakia.




  Firstly, they had to get themselves assigned to three flights, from three different cities – Brno, Ostrava and Bratislava – to Prague, flying on the same day. On 23 March, Vit Angetter, Ladislav Světlík and Oldřich Doležal met up at a coffee shop in Prague's Ruzyně International Airport before operating their various flights to Brno, Ostrava and Bratislava, where they were to overnight before initiating their multi-flight skyjacking. They could only carry enough luggage for an overnight stay, but they were planning on leaving home for good.




  Of the 85 people that boarded the three flights on 24 March, 26 knew that their flights would not be going to Prague as planned – a huge number of people not to arouse suspicion among the 'genuine' passengers.


  With Vit Angetter on board the CSA flight departing Brno were Kamil Mráz, serving as the radio operator/navigator – who was also armed – and Lída Škorpíková, the flight attendant; they were part of the plot. Also in the know were Angetter's wife, Eva Veselá, who was travelling under her maiden name and Miroslav Hanzlíček, a CSA employee. Oblivious to the situation were Captain Josef Klesnil and Jan Tuček, the flight engineer, who found themselves bound and gagged by the time the plane landed. As it happens, Klesnil had been planning a similar escape, but with his family still at home in Czechoslovakia, he had to return.




  On board the CSA flight departing Ostrava were Captain Ladislav Světlík, co-pilot Mečislav Kozák, Cestmír Brož, the radio operator/navigator and Gejza Holoda, the flight engineer, but only Světlík knew the plan. Among the 23 passengers, four were in the know; one of whom was CSA pilot Viktor Popelka, along with Popelka's wife, who was travelling under her maiden name, and the wife and son of Oldřich Doležal, the pilot of the Bratislava plane.




  During the flight, Světlík had to leave the cockpit in order to facilitate Popelka's entry. The two men managed to overpower the other crew members and, as on the other aircraft, secure those crew members who were not part of the plan in the luggage area at the rear of the cockpit; the passengers remained oblivious to the situation.




  On board the CSA flight departing Bratislava were Captain Oldřich Doležal, co-pilot Bořivoj Šmíd, Stansislav Šácha, the radio operator/navigator, Jan Královansky, the flight engineer and Eva Vysloužilová, the flight attendant. All the crew knew the plan, so it was deemed to be the easiest plan to pull off. However, it was also the last flight to leave, so there was the possibility that the loss of radio contact with the other aircraft could provoke a response from the authorities. The risk was exacerbated by the delayed departure of the aircraft, caused by the escaping passengers bringing excess luggage with them (despite instructions to the contrary). The captain had to request additional fuel, which raised concerns among airport security and resulted in all the passengers having to undergo additional document checks.




  It was during these checks that the police identified the name 'Vrzánova' on the passenger manifest. One month earlier, the Czechoslovak world figure skating champion, Alena 'Áji' Vrzáňová, had defected in the West; her mother was one of the latest group of escapees!




  Thirty minutes delayed, the aircraft was ready to depart but, at the last minute, they were instructed to return to the terminal. The radio operator pretended not to have heard and the aircraft departed.




  Of the 85 people who landed in Erding, 27 claimed political asylum, and one American diplomat, serving in Prague, was immediately released. It took four days to arrange the repatriation of the other 57. On their arrival home, a press conference was held in which the group's spokesman said that they had 'rejected capitalist heaven'. Josef Klesnil, Mečislav Kozák and Gejza Holoda became the scapegoats and were all dismissed from CSA. A book entitled Unos do Erdingu (Kidnap to Erding) was published portraying the pilots as gangsters and the returning citizens as heroes. In 1953, the book was made into a film called Unos.




 


THE OAXACA BALLAD OF PACO AND ESPERANZA


In the 1950s, despite the now significant number of incidents already perpetrated, passengers were not being screened prior to boarding flights, nor, as in the case of Mexicana Airlines flight 575 on 24 September 1952, was the delivery of bags to the aircraft prohibited.




  The DC-3 was preparing to depart Mexico City for Oaxaca's Xoxocotlan Airport when a man appeared at the door and delivered a bag to Irma Carranza, the flight attendant. He asked her to hold on to the bag, despite the fact that he was not a passenger; it was, allegedly, for another passenger who had yet to board. Nowadays, such a request would be treated with extreme suspicion around the world, and procedures would not permit the bag to fly… but this was 1952, when flying was fun and naivety levels high.




  The flight's departure was delayed due to a crew change. Irma never actually flew to Oaxaca that day, but she did prepare the aircraft for departure while awaiting her colleague, Lilia Novelo Torres. In the process, Irma cleared the aft galley and moved the bag to the front baggage compartment, despite the man who had delivered the bag having instructed her to keep the bag at the rear of the aircraft.




  Forty-five minutes after take off, the bomb, triggered by a timing mechanism, exploded. Two passengers suffered broken legs because the baggage compartment wall collapsed on them; three other passengers were injured by shrapnel, but the aircraft itself remained intact. The crew were able to successfully land at Santa Lucia Air Force Base, where the aircraft was surrounded by armed soldiers suspicious of the unexpected arrival.




  The investigation revealed a plan to benefit from payouts on life insurance policies, as well as human trafficking. Six of the passengers travelling on the Mexicana flight thought that they would be taking up employment at a hotel in Oaxaca – a hotel that did not exist. Two men had fabricated this early example of human trafficking by air. The conmen had taken out life insurance policies on the 'new hires' and were to be the beneficiaries should they meet an untimely end.




  The aircraft survived the blast, probably because of the location of the bag within the cabin, so the police had little trouble in identifying the culprits. The eight employees were alive and able to give testimony, and Irma was available to provide an account of the delivery of the bag to the flight. When they identified the culprits, it sent shockwaves through Mexico.




  Francisco Sierra was a baritone opera singer, married to the more famous and significantly older opera singer Esperanza Iris; he was better known as Paco Sierra, she as 'The Queen of the Operetta'. The couple mixed in high society and travelled the world, but Paco was a proud, yet greedy man who was far from content to be living off the success of his more famous wife. Paco was always in search of a way of making some extra money and it was this which led him to formulate a plan with his friend, the equally greedy Emilio Arellano, to make it big time.




  Emilio made all the arrangements, including the insurance policies. He placed adverts in the newspapers to hire workers for the Oaxaca hotel and, once he had five willing candidates, he then recruited his uncle, Ramon Martinez Arellano, to be the transporter of the bomb.




  When the plane landed in Santa Lucia, those passengers who thought they had jobs in Oaxaca opted to continue their journeys there the same day. This was an added reason for the identification of Arellano as the prime culprit; when they arrived in Oaxaca, nobody met them! 




  There had been one death, but not as a result of the bomb itself. Eugenio Pologvsky, a passenger on board, panicked and jumped from the aircraft to his death after the explosion, his body landing near Zozocolco.




  As Arellano was the fixer, he was sentenced to 30 years in prison. Paco, having played a more passive role, and thanks to his numerous high society connections, was only sentenced to nine years. However, Paco appealed the sentence which he, and more importantly Esperanza, thought was excessive. This time luck was not on his side and the sentence was increased to 29 years.




  Esperanza died in 1962 and Paco was released in 1971, only to marry and sing again!




 



ESCAPE TO XIAMEN




Criminal attacks against aviation were not only for financial gain, as was witnessed on 30 December 1952, when a Philippine Airlines flight operating a domestic route between Laoag and Aparri was hijacked by a Chinese man, Ang Chio-Kio, who was armed with a .45-calibre pistol.




  The hijacker had killed a 16-year-old Chinese schoolgirl with whom he was infatuated, in front of her teacher and classmates in Manila, and had also shot the policeman who had attempted to arrest him; Ang Chio-Kio was now desperate to get to China. He boarded the flight using a false name – Hung Chu-Chun, shot and killed the first officer, and then ordered Captain Felix Gaston to fly to Xiamen in China.




  As the aircraft was on its final approach, flying at only 50 ft above the sea, the unexpected DC-3 came under fire from the Chinese air force, forcing the captain to divert and land on the Taiwanese island of Quemoy. A flight attendant tried to enter the flight deck, but was also shot and killed by the hijacker. When the aircraft eventually landed on Quemoy, both the captain and the hijacker were placed under arrest, with the hijacker believing he was safely on Communist territory. They were both treated with equal suspicion and kept in the same farmhouse for interrogation.




  Gaston was eventually allowed to return to the Philippines the next day; two days later his wife gave birth to their first child.















FRITZ ATTACK



 


The Philippine Airlines flight had almost been shot down by the Chinese. Almost became actually on 22 July 1954 when a Cathay Pacific Airways flight operating from Bangkok, Thailand to Hong Kong, was shot down by Chinese La-9 Fritz fighters near Hainan Island. There were 18 people on board, of whom only eight survived.


  The attack came as a complete surprise to all on board as the aircraft was suddenly riddled with bullets. Captain Phil Blown was at the controls and he put the aircraft into a dive to avoid the onslaught. The aircraft eventually crashed into the sea and those passengers who had not been killed in their seats by the gunfire ripping through the fuselage managed to escape the wreckage. Once they were convinced that they were no longer under attack by the Chinese fighter aircraft, they inflated the life raft and awaited rescue.


  China did eventually apologise to Cathay Pacific for their error and offered to pay compensation to the victims and their families.

















TARGET: ZHOU ENLAI




Today's communication systems make it highly unlikely for an airliner to be shot down in the fashion described above, but if you were to ask many a modern-day airport security manager what keeps him or her awake at night, they will concede that it is the 'insider' threat – that posed by the trusted employee or individual with access to airside facilities or aircraft themselves. The insider threat may well be behind the most recent aviation disaster (at the time of writing), in which it is suspected that an airport-based employee in Sharm el-Sheikh may have infiltrated an explosive device onto a Metrojet flight bound for St. Petersburg on 31 October 2015. It would not have been the first time.




  On 11 April 1955, an Air India flight operating from Hong Kong to Jakarta exploded and crashed into the sea near the Natuna Islands. The aircraft was carrying Chinese and Eastern European delegates to a conference when an IED concealed in the wheel bay of the aircraft detonated, perforating the fuel tank. The flight engineer, the navigator and first officer all escaped, but the remaining 16 passengers were killed.




  It is believed that an aircraft cleaner, Chow-Tse Ming, an employee of the Hong Kong Aircraft Engineering Company, had infiltrated the device on board in an attempt to assassinate then Chinese Premier Zhou Enlai. When Chow-Tse Ming was questioned by the authorities, he made his escape by becoming a stowaway on board an aircraft to Taiwan. It is widely believed that Chow-Tse Ming was in fact an agent for the Kuomintang and that the group had recruited Ming specifically because of his job as a cleaner at the airport.




  Zhou Enlai never actually boarded the flight and there is some speculation that he hadn't even travelled to Hong Kong, due to his having to undergo an emergency appendectomy. Others, however, believe that Zhou Enlai was made aware of the plot and that the alleged appendectomy was merely a ruse to conceal the fact that he actually allowed the bombing to take place, knowing that he would be sacrificing some of the lesser members of his Chinese delegation.




 



INTERCEPTS AND SHOOT DOWNS




While conflict in the Middle East was not to become a causal factor for aircraft hijackings until the late 1960s, the region's skies were not always a safe place to be.




  On 12 December 1954, two days after five Israeli soldiers had been captured in Syria, a Syrian DC-3 bound for Cairo strayed into Israeli airspace, was intercepted by Mustang fighter jets from the Israeli air force and forced to land at Lod Airport near Tel Aviv. In what was to all intents and purposes a war zone, any government could justify taking action against civilian airliners from enemy states entering its airspace; however, the subsequent action taken by Israel was, and continues to be, utilised as a political weapon to this day.




  Once the aircraft was on the ground, all the passengers were interviewed by members of the Israeli security services. An American passenger, Ralph Krohn Hansen, was quickly released. So too was the aircraft's Greek pilot, although he decided to stay in Israel with his aircraft. The other crew members and passengers were detained for 48 hours, during which time the Israelis inadvertently introduced a tactic, which would be exploited by Palestinian terrorist groups years later – holding passengers hostage in return for the release of prisoners held in overseas prisons. The Israeli government wanted their five soldiers back and, in a diplomatic faux pas, they utilised their unexpected guests as a means to do so.




  In the years since, Israel's action has been described by some as either a hijacking and/or a terrorist act by a sovereign state. Indeed, the Internet is awash with references to the incident, mostly citing philosopher and linguist Noam Chomsky's description of the event as 'the first airplane hijacking in the Middle East'. This statement is far-fetched; a naïve error of judgement it may have been, calculated terrorist attack it was not.




  Regardless, according to the Institute of Palestinian Studies, within 48 hours, the Syrian government agreed to exchange the captured Israeli soldiers for the hostages. The short-term gain of the delayed release of passengers set a dangerous precedent, and one which certainly troubled Moshe Sharrett, then Foreign Minister of Israel. In his diaries, Sharratt wrote:




 



[image: ] It must be clear to you that we had no justification whatsoever to seize the plane, and that once forced down we should have immediately released it and not held the passengers under interrogation for 48 hours. I have no reason to doubt the truth of the factual affirmation of the US State Department that our action was without precedent in the history of international practice. What shocks and worries me is the narrow-mindedness and the short-sightedness of our military leaders. They seem to presume that the State of Israel may – or even must – behave in the realm of international relations according to the

law of the jungle. [image: ]




 


The threat of being shot down was also demonstrated on 27 July 1955 when an El Al Israel Airlines Lockheed Constellation, flying from London to Tel Aviv, via Vienna and Istanbul, was shot down by the Bulgarian air force, after the aircraft strayed into Bulgarian airspace during inclement weather, soon after its take off from Vienna for Istanbul.


  The Bulgarian air force had scrambled two MiG-15 jets to intercept the intruder. Bulgaria quickly acknowledged that it had shot down the plane, and Israel did not dispute that its plane had crossed into Bulgaria without authorisation. The plane was ordered to land, but the aircraft altered course for Greece, possibly as a corrective measure.
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